1969

Paul Bramel And William B. Brook v. The State Of Utah : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF CASE

This is a review of an ordinary negligence action tried to the court below on a question of warning to motorists with reference to the freeway (I-15) ending at or near Ogden, Utah, and contributory negligence of the driver which resulted in Judgment for the Plaintiffs, Respondents, and against the Defendant, Appellant, State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 29th day of November, 1966, at approximately 8:00 p.m., a 1966 Kenworth Diesel Tractor with a 1963 Trail-mobile refrigerated trailer unit failed to negotiate the off-ramp at the ending of I-15 at or near Ogden, Utah, and the unit overturned resulting in considerable damage to the tractor

and trailer unit, and to the cargo of cucumbers, and some injury to the person of the driver of the tractor, William B. Brooks, one of the Respondants.

Some four to five hours earlier, Mr. Brooks had left Price, Utah after a rest stop (R-57) on a planned Houston, Texas to Spokane and Seattle, Washington haul (R-54). As he traveled I-15 there had been some patches of fog (R-58) but near and at the point of the accident, the fog had lifted (R-58), and visibility was at least 20 - 25 yards (R-76 and 80).

DISPOSITION BELOW

The lower court found that the signs placed by the State of Utah "gave virtually no warning to the motorist public . . . (so) that they would be able to negotiate with reasonable safety the exit at the freeway end" (R-31); that the driver Brooks was free of contributory negligence (R-32) and awarded judgment to the Plaintiffs for property damage and personal injury in the sum of \$27,878.25, including interest, together with costs.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek an Order of this Court reversing the judgment of the court below and dismissing the action of the Plaintiffs as a matter of law, or in the alternative remanding for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FINDING OF THE LOWER COURT THAT "AT MOST" ONLY CERTAIN LISTED SIGNS HAD BEEN IN

PLACE AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT IS ERRONEOUS, AND CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE.

A complete reading of the transcript of the Trial fails to disclose the evidentiary testimony from which the court made the Findings of Fact, paragraph 5 (R-31). If the testimony of the Plaintiff, Brooks, is credited, there were only four or five Chevron signs "back up the road" (R-64) and one EXIT 25 MILES PER HOUR sign "just before you went off onto the off-ramp" (R-65). The court having apparently found that there were other signs up, appears not to have credited the testimony of the driver Brooks on this point. The clear testimony of the State's witnesses as to the signing of the area prior to the opening of the freeway section involved, on the other hand, appears to have been only partially credited by the court. It does not clearly appear what basis the court used in ascertaining the facts in this regard, accepting some of the testimony and rejecting other evidence on the matter of signs from the same witnesses. As stated in the Findings of Fact (R-31), the following signs "at most" were up:

Freeway Ends One Mile

All Traffic Must Exit

25 Miles per Hour speed signs (black on yellow) — two

Chevron channelizing signs (red and white) — several

Unlighted Barricades (black on white)

25 Miles per Hour Exit speed sign (black on yellow)

Yellow arrow at north edge of exit

It is respectfully submitted that other than the very general testimony of Brooks, (obviously not accepted by the court

below) that no signs were up at all except the Chevron signs and the one 25 MILES PER HOUR sign, there is no dispute in the record that the following signs were also in place at the time of the accident:

Single Lane Ahead (R-146 and 147)

Black on yellow arrow (additional) (R-150 and 169)

In addition, it should be noted that the evidence clearly shows that nearly all of these signs were reflectorized (R-145-147).

The existence of the SINGLE LANE AHEAD sign is deemed to be of particular importance. Through an extended period of cross-examination, the driver Brooks insist that the freeway went from three lanes to two lanes and then directly to the off-ramp never having narrowed to a single lane (R-76-78). This is contrary to the clear weight of the evidence, and to the exhibits P-1, P-2, and P-4. In finding, therefore, that "the State failed to give adequate, reasonable or sufficient notice . . . that traffic would be required to turn on to a one lane . . . exit road . . ." (R-31) the failure of the court to find that this sign was erected is not only erroneous, but reversible error. It is urged that when the actual number, type and condition of signing clearly in place at the time of the accident is recognized, the further finding of the court below and the judgment rendered thereon, is error as a matter of law.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING ON THE EVIDENCE THAT THE SIGNS AS PLACED BY THE STATE FAILED TO GIVE ADEQUATE, REASONABLE OR SUFFICIENT NOTICE, AND IN FACT GAVE VIRTUALLY NO WARNING.

At first blush, the issued would appear to be a strictly factual consideration. However, the importance of this issue has been statutorily realized in 41-6-20 U.C.A. 1953, as amended, wherein it is required that "The State Road Commission shall adopt a manual and specifications for a uniform system of traffic control devices consistent with the provisions of this act for use upon highways within the state. Such a uniform system shall correlate with and so far as possible, conform to the system then current as approved by the American Association of State Highway Officials." To comply with this statutory mandate, the commission follows the *Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways* prepared by the American Association of State Highway Officials et al.⁽¹⁾ The record shows that there was conformity with the minimum requirements plus some additional signing according to testimony (R-130 and 131).

Turning from the statutory requirements incorporated in 41-6-20 U.C.A. 1953 to the case law briefly, the general rule is that a governmental highway authority is not negligent in failing to erect and maintain warning signs or barriers unless (a) the situation is inherently dangerous, or (b) such signs or barriers are specifically required by statute. *Ulve vs. City of Raymond*, 317 P 2d 908, 51 Wash. 2d 241 (1957). Concluding that the present situation is an inherently dangerous situation, the degree of required signing devices would certainly not exceed that which reasonably prudent men would, under the same or similar circumstances, consider to be sufficient. We submit that the basic standards followed in the

(1) Institute of Traffic Engineers, National Committee on Uniform Traffic Laws and Ordinances, National Association of County Officials, American Municipal Association; published by the U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Public Roads, Washington D.C., June, 1961.

manual cited *supra*, should, as a matter of law, be sufficient to constitute an appropriate warning for a non-negligent driver.

We further submit that to determine the adequacy or inadequacy of the signing, the court must look only at the evidence directly relevant to that issue. The court should not speculate as to better methods of warning motorists nor should it consider subsequent additions to the signing or structuring of the roadway. It should limit its consideration to the issue of whether a careful user would be secure under the present circumstances. *ShIPLEY vs. City of Arroyo Grande*, 208 P 2d 51, 92 C.A. 2d 748, (1949). Additional evidence such as intoxication of the driver or driving record, etc., would lend evidence to the probabilities of an accident, but would add nothing to the issue regarding the adequacy of the signing *per se*. We would therefore suggest that there were ample signs to warn a reasonably careful driver and the instant case should lead to a result in harmony with such a conclusion. In *Nelson vs. City of Seattle*, 16 Wash. 2d, 592, 134 P 2d, 89, (1943), the court said that one sign, having the dimensions of three feet by five feet, with the wording "danger . . . when wet . . . speed 15" was sufficient, as a matter of law, for the court to conclude that the city was free from negligence in warning a motorist of the danger of the up-coming wooden block pavement.

Therefore, the number of signs and the spacing thereof, mentioned above, would be sufficient to warn the reasonable driver of pending danger and would certainly be contrary to the finding of the court that there was "virtually no warning to the motorist public".

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE DRIVER, BROOKS, OPERATED THE UNIT IN A REASONABLE AND PRUDENT MANNER.

Except for the self-serving statements of Plaintiff Brooks (R-65) which is contradictory to his previous testimony, as the record clearly shows (R-64 and 65), all of the competent, believable evidence, and particularly the physical facts not in dispute, argue persuasively for a finding of negligence on the part of Brooks as a matter of law. Elsewhere in this Brief, it is pointed out that between one mile of the off-ramp and the off-ramp in question, the State of Utah was found by the court to have erected some ten or more warning and information signs regarding the ending of the freeway and the exit speed, etc., in connection with this highway. The Plaintiff Brooks insists that he didn't see any signs except the Chevron signs and the last 25 MILES PER HOUR exit sign (R-64 and 65). In view of the courts finding that there were at least twice that many signs in place, the driver, Brooks, stands convicted on his own testimony of having failed to see what was there to be seen, and thus of negligence as a matter of law. We urge that it is not within the realm of logic that a person driving in a "reasonable and prudent manner" (R-31-32) would have seen the signs which are found to have been in place and still failed to negotiate the off-ramp in question. The whole import of the signs which were found to be in place is that conditions ahead were changing and adverse, requiring a relatively slow speed of 25 miles per hour from the freeway speed of 70 miles per hour. What do three signs EXIT 25 MILES PER HOUR mean? And what do the other warning signs mean?

This court has heretofore held that "where the undisputed facts are of such a character that reasonable minds can arrive at but one conclusion, namely that the injured party was not exercising the degree of care imposed by law, it is the duty of the court to declare such conclusion as a matter of law". (*Edmunds vs. Germer*, 12 Utah 2d 215) (see also *Frank vs. McCarthy*, 188 P 2d 737, 112 Utah 422 (1948) on this point). We urge that the court below, having found the State to have erected some ten or more warning and informational signs within one mile of the off-ramps was bound by that finding to declare the failure of the driver to see and act upon the information thus disclosed to be negligent as a matter of law under the rule of the referenced case. In that same opinion, this court stated:

"The law not only places upon a driver of an automobile the responsibility of seeing things which are apparent, but charges him with the consequences of failing to see what, in the exercise of ordinary care, he should have seen".

In connection with the exit speed sign we submit, further, that on the record the Plaintiff Brooks again stands convicted of negligence primarily upon his own testimony. Brooks testified that visibility at the point of the accident was 20 - 25 yards, because "I was running with my lights on dim" (R-76 and 80). Yet in prior testimony on direct examination, Brooks admitted that he did not see the sign, indisputably there to be seen, until he was 20 to 25 feet from it (R-66)! These facts are totally inconsistent with the finding that Brooks was driving in a "reasonable and prudent manner", but are strongly indicative of the reverse.

Taking the facts as we find them, there is a clear showing in the testimony that Brooks was negligent in connection with this action on further grounds. The undisputed testimony of the State (R-146) and the physical facts as they are disclosed by exhibits P-1 and P-4 is that the last EXIT 25 MILES PER HOUR sign was placed approximately 50 feet from the exit. Throughout his testimony, Brooks insists that he was not exceeding 35 miles per hour as he approached the exit (R-58 and 76) and on cross-examination, he reduced this maximum speed to 32 miles per hour because "I was taching about 1800" (R-90). It is respectfully submitted that with approximately 75 feet to go before the exit, no driver driving reasonably and prudently at a speed not in excess of 35 miles per hour, would have any difficulty whatsoever in reducing his speed by 7 to 10 miles per hour.

Exhibits P-1 and P-4, taken after the accident, show convincingly that Brooks didn't even try to make the turn off, but rather ran off the ramp almost immediately. It flies in the face of reason to suppose that a person driving a motor vehicle in a reasonable and prudent manner, keeping a look-out for warning and directional signs, can be traveling at a rate of not to exceed 35 miles per hour, observe a sign requiring an exit speed of 25 miles per hour some 75 feet before the need, and still fail not only to negotiate the roadway safely, but in fact to run off it immediately! Add to this the testimony of the driver Brooks that he did not skid any wheel before the overturn (R-67) and an incontrovertible case of negligence is made out against the plaintiffs. The only logical conclusion from the evidence is that Brooks either failed to see what was there to be seen, or failed to consider and act non-negligently on what he saw. In this connection, it is submitted that there is some differential for safety over and above the posted min-

imum, allowing safe vehicular negotiation of our highways with speeds somewhat higher than posted, particularly when, as here, the driver is a professional, with a modern, well equipped motor vehicle. Accepting the testimony of the driver, Brooks, at face value, he should have been able with no difficulty at all to negotiate the turn-off from I-15 with perfect safety, and his failure to do so was conclusive evidence of his negligent and careless operation of his motor unit which was the proximate, if not the sole cause of the Plaintiffs damages.

POINT IV

THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE DRIVER, BROOKS, BARS ANY RECOVERY BY THE DRIVER OR HIS EMPLOYER, OWNER OF THE DAMAGED UNIT, FROM THE STATE OF UTAH.

It is well settled that an employer, owner of a motor vehicle who releases the motor vehicle to his employee and sends him out on the business of the employer is barred from recovery for any loss or damages to his property, vehicle, and cargo, where the negligence of the employee, is in any degree a contributing factor in the damages or loss. (*Frank vs. McCarthy*, 188 P 2d 737, 112 Utah 422 (1948); *Portre vs. Saunders*, 143 P 2d 554, 19 Wash. 2d 561 (1943); *Bailey vs. Jeffries - aves, Inc.*, 414 P 2d 503, 76 N. M. 278 (1966).

Indeed, this court has stated in a dictum, that an employer may be held answerable in damages for the *intentional* tort of his employee committed in the furtherence of his employer's interest or (where) the employment is such that the use of force could be contemplated in its accomplishments. *Barney vs. Jewel Tea Company*, 104 Utah 292. Had the State of Utah filed a counterclaim for damages to the property of the state

destroyed by the negligence of Brooks, it would have been entitled to recover any judgment rendered thereon against both Brooks and his employer, Bramel, in the instant case. The rule of respondeat superior is clearly and properly invoked in this connection, so that if the driver Brooks is guilty of negligence, neither he nor his employer may recover for damages to which such negligence has been in any degree a cause.

CONCLUSION

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the Respondents, it is clear that the State of Utah, Department of Highways was not negligent in any particular as it relates to this action. The court found some ten or more reflectorized signs placed by the state within one mile of the exit from the freeway (R-31). The nature of the signs together with the numbers, completely negates any reasonable finding of negligence on the part of the Appellant, State of Utah. The uncontroverted evidence is that the section of highway was signed in compliance with the *Manual on Traffic Control Devices* as approved by the American Association of State Highway Officials and as required by 41-6-20 U.C.A. 1953 as amended. Indeed, the evidence justifies a finding that the signing of this area exceeded the standards so established, which must be deemed prima facie evidence of no negligence. There being absolutely nothing in the record to rebut this presumption, it is submitted that the State of Utah was not and could not be liable for negligence.

In any event, the State of Utah can not reasonably be required to respond in damages to the Respondents because the record is conclusive that on the testimony of the Plaintiff

driver, Brooks, he was negligent as a matter of law. Also, as a matter of law, his negligence as an employee of the other Respondent, owner of the motor unit, acting clearly within the scope of his employment, serve to bar recovery from the Appellant, State of Utah.

It is submitted, therefore, that justice demands this case be reversed and that judgment of dismissal be entered in favor of the Appellant, State of Utah, as a matter of law, or in the alternative, remanded for new trial.