1969

Paul Bramel And William B. Brook v. The State Of Utah : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT AND PROCEEDINGS IN THE LOWER COURT ARE PRESUMED TO BE CORRECT BY THE REVIEWING COURT ON APPEAL.

There are many cases supporting the general proposition of law stated in Point I, and especially as it applies to the instant case. No cases have been found by respondents stating a contrary position.

Not only is there a presumption of validity on appeal of the judgment and proceeding in the lower court, but the burden is on the appellant affirmatively to demonstrate error and in the absence of such the judgment must be affirmed by the reviewing court. *Leithead vs. Adair*, 10 U. 2d 282, 351 P. 2d 956; *Coombs vs. Perry*, 2 U. 2d 381, 275 P. 2d. Again, on appeal the judgment of the trial court is presumptively correct and every reasonable intendment must be indulged in by the appellate court in favor of it. *Burton vs. Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution*, 122 U. 360, 249 P. 2d 514; *Nagle vs. Club Fountainblue*, 17 U. 2d 125, 405 P. 2d 346; *Petty vs. Gindy Manufacturing Corporation*, 17 U. 2d 32, 404 P. 2d 30.

This proposition of law is correct and is binding upon the appellate court whether the proceedings in the lower court are before a judge only or a judge and jury.

Other cases supporting this proposition are *Charlton vs. Hackett*, 11 U. 2d 389, 360 P. 2d 176; *Universal Investment Company vs. Carpets, Inc.* 16 U. 2d 336, 400 P. 2d 564; *Taylor vs. Johnson* 15 U. 2d 342, 398 P. 2d 382; *Wendelboe vs. Jacobson*, 10 U. 2d 344, 353 P. 2d 178; *Hadley vs. Wood*, 9 U. 2d 366, 345 P. 2d 197; *Daisy Distributors, Inc., vs. Local Union 876, Joint Council 67, Western Conference of Teamsters*, 8 U. 2d 124, 329 P. 2d 414.

Unquestionably an appellate court has the power to examine the findings of fact of the court below to determine whether they are supported by competent evi-

dence, but a finding of fact made by a court acting without a jury will be sustained on appeal unless it is shown by the appellant that such finding is *clearly* against the weight or preponderance of the evidence, *Jackson vs. Jackson*, 201 Okla. 292, 205 P 2d 297, 7 ALR 2d 1410; *Edmundson's Estate*, 295 Pa. 429, 103 A. 277, 2 ALR 1150; *Muggah vs. Smith*, 33 Wash. 2d 429, 206 P 2d 332, 9 ALR 2d 846; *Higbee vs. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co.*, 235 Wis. 91, 292 NW 320 128 ALR 734, or is not supported by any *substantial* evidence, *Van Voast vs. Blaine County*, 118 Mont. 395, 167 P2d 572, 169 ALR 681; *Wilson Oil Company vs. Hardy*, 49 N.M. 337, 164 P 2d 209, 162 ALR 292; or is *clearly* erroneous, *Lassiter vs. Guy F. Atkinson Co.* (CA9 Wash.) 176 F. 2d 984, 21 ALR 2d 1313 (referring to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 52(a)); *Patsy & Fiehrman, Inc. vs. Housing Authority*, 76 R.I. 86, 68 A 2d 126, 44 ALR 2d 1106. Where the evidence is evenly balanced, a finding of the trial court either way must be sustained as not against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence, *Kalsop's Will*, 229 Wis. 356, 281 NW 646, 282 NW 587, 119 ALR 1094.

It is a general rule of law that the appellate court does not ordinarily review the trial court's findings of fact whether the findings of fact are based on direct proof or upon inferences drawn from the evidence, *Idaho State Bank vs. Hooper Sugar Co.*, 74 Utah 24, 276 P. 659, 68 ALR 969.

Therefore, if appellant, the State of Utah, can prevail on the instant appeal it must be based upon the

ground that the findings of fact complained of by appellant are *clearly* against the weight and preponderance of the evidence, or that they are not supported by any substantial evidence, or that the findings of fact are *clearly* erroneous. Respondents submit that appellant is unable to do this and that the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and the Judgment of the lower court must stand undisturbed.

POINT II

THE FINDING OF THE LOWER COURT THAT "AT MOST" ONLY CERTAIN LISTED SIGNS HAD BEEN IN PLACE AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT IS NOT ERRONEOUS AND CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE.

Point II of Respondents' Brief will deal with the same subject matter and will be written in answer to Point I of Appellant's Brief.

In relation to the signs and markers at and near the temporary end of the freeway where this accident occurred, the Court made, *inter alia* the following Findings of Fact (R 31):

5. That reflectors, markers and signs had been placed in various locations on the said freeway for the purpose of notifying and advising motorists of existing roadway and conditions, that at most the signs included "Freeway Ends One Mile," at a point about one mile south of the off ramp, "All Traffic Must Exit" about one-half mile south of the off ramp, two black on yellow 25 miles per hour speed signs about one-fourth mile from the exit, several red and white chevron channelizing signs, a horizontal black on white

unlighted barricade at or immediately north of the exit, a 25 miles per hour black on yellow exit sign at or immediately south of the exit and a black on yellow arrow at the north edge of the exit.

The witnesses at the trial who testified about the number and kinds of signs that were in place along the freeway when the accident occurred were William Brooks, plaintiff; Dean Prisbrey, Traffic Engineer, District I, Utah State Department of Highways; John Lynn Owens, Sign Foreman, District I, Utah State Department of Highways; Kenneth W. Anderson, Deputy State Traffic Engineer, State of Utah; Jack Graviat, Utah Highway patrolman; and Clyde Beutler, a motorist and witness to the accident who was approximately one-quarter of a mile behind Mr. Brooks when the accident occurred.

John Lynn Owens testified that certain signs were placed along the freeway by him between November 14, 1966, and November 21, 1966 (T100, R146). However, he did not know what signs were in place when the accident occurred and he had no accurate memory of what signs he originally put up (T113, R159) and that there were some signs put up and existing signs changed after the accident (T107, R153).

Dean Prisbrey testified that he had seen the signs along the freeway on November 23, 1966, and the signs he recalls being there were the following: (1) Ogden 31st Street Exit, (2) Route Marker (3) All Traffic Must Exit, (4) Advisory Speed Sign, (5) Arrow sign, and (6) 25 miles per hour sign (T156, R202). The 94 foot detour

barricade with amber flashing lights as called for by the Department of Highways' plans was not in place (T159, R205).

Kenneth Anderson stated that he drove over the section of the highway in question but did not make a record of the signs in place and hence did not know what signs had been installed (T134, R180). He did, however, know that the design for the installation of the signs "was really quite crude." (T141-143, R187-189)

Utah State Highway Patrolman Jack Graviet who investigated the accident and traversed the portion of the freeway in question said that the following signs were in place at the time of the accident: (1) All Traffic Must Exit sign about one mile from scene of accident, (2) Two 25 miles per hour speed limit signs about one-quarter of a mile from scene of accident, (3) Barricades with arrows near the end of the freeway with 25 miles per hour sign, and, (4) Red and white Chevron signs at the end of the freeway. He further stated that there were no flashing lights at the end of the freeway (T195, R241).

Clyde Beutler testified that he did not see any Chevron barricades (Deposition of Clyde Beutler, Page 24) or any Chevron signs prior to the exit (page 34) nor did he recall any signs at the exit other than a speed sign and a barricade and arrow sign (page 11) and an exit speed 25 sign at the curve of the off ramp (page 7).

It is obvious from the preceding cursory review of the testimony of those who had any knowledge or who were supposed to have some knowledge of what signs

were in place when the accident occurred that it is very difficult to say exactly what signs were up. The testimony is in conflict, and none of appellant's witnesses had any knowledge of what signs were in place at the time of the accident.

Clyde Beutler's testimony of the in place signs was different from that of Jack Graviet, the investigating officer. Appellant complains in Point I of its brief that the lower court did not accept in total the testimony of its witnesses.

In a non-jury trial, the trial judge is empowered to reconcile conflicts and discrepancies in the proof offered, *Armstrong vs. Grant* (Tex. Civ. App.) 356 SW 2d 398. Where the evidence is in conflict, the trier of fact, whether that be a judge or a jury, determines what should be accepted as the truth and what should be rejected as untrue or false, *Cross vs. Ledford*, 161 Ohio St. 469, 53 Ohio Ops. 361, 120 NE 2d 118; *Rice vs. Cleveland*, 144 Ohio St. 299, 29 Ohio Ops. 447, 58 NE 2d 768. It is a general rule of law supported by the overwhelming weight of authority that the trier of fact may disbelieve all or any part of the testimony of a party or witness if it is tainted with evasiveness, uncertainty, or contradictions, or that the finder of fact may believe only such portion of the evidence that seems credible in the light of other evidence, *Burns vs. Radoicich*, 77 Cal. App. 2d 697, 176 P 2d 77; *Berger vs. Steiner*, 72 Cal. App. 2d 208, 164 P. 2d 559. Utah cases supporting the propositions of law stated above are *Schlatter vs. McCarthy*, 113 Utah 543, 196 P. 2d 968, reh den 113 Utah 560, 198 P. 2d 473,

where plaintiff's witnesses and defendant's witnesses gave conflicting testimony, the jury was entitled to believe the testimony of plaintiff's witness. *Agard vs. Dayton & Miller Red-E-Mix Concrete Co.*, 12 Utah 2d 34, 361 P. 2d 522, which states that although the trier of fact cannot arbitrarily disregard competent, credible and uncontradicted testimony, it may determine the weight to be given testimony, and may refuse to find in accordance with it where there is any circumstance which reasonable provides a basis for such refusal.

As has been stated, the testimony of almost all witnesses is conflicting as to exactly what road signs were in place at the time and place of the accident. None of the defendant's witnesses could say what signs were in place, however, all of the State's witnesses did say that all of the signs required by the State's own plan for signing were not in place. As it was the trial Court conceded to the State of Utah most of the signs that it claims were there.

Based upon the foregoing discussion, respondents respectfully assert that Point I of appellant's brief is without merit.

POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING ON THE EVIDENCE THAT THE SIGNS AS PLACED BY THE STATE FAILED TO GIVE ADEQUATE, REASONABLE OR SUFFICIENT NOTICE.

In relation to the signs placed at or near the place where the accident occurred, the trial court made the following finding:

6. That at the said time and place the signs placed by the State failed to give adequate, reasonable or sufficient notice of a difficult and dangerous condition which existed or of the fact that traffic would be required to turn onto a one lane sharply curving exit road and accomplish a 270° turn;

From reading the findings of fact, it is obvious that the lower court did not find that the signs did not give any warning or notice, but that they failed to give adequate warning of a dangerous condition which existed at the end of the freeway. The dangerous condition that existed and for which the State did not give the motoring public adequate warning was, (a) a 35 mph reduction in speed from 70 to 25 mph, (b) the reduction of traffic lanes from three upon which a speed of 70 mph was permitted to one upon which a speed of only 25 mph was permitted, (c) the one lane onto which the traffic from three lanes was channelled was a narrow sharply curving exit road, (d) and that the sharply curving one lane road accomplished a 270° turn.

The lower court's finding that the State of Utah did not give the motoring public reasonable notice of a dangerous condition that existed at the end of the freeway is amply demonstrated by the evidence. It should be noted that the State did not erect all of the kinds or amounts of signs as specified by the construction signing plan adopted by it. The signs that should have been in place according to the specifications of the State Highway Department are as follows: (a) Construction approach warning signs, three in number, (b) Exit sign

with arrow, and (c) 94 foot detour barricade with amber flashing light. It appears from the evidence produced by the State of Utah that it did not even meet its own minimum requirements for adequate signing on the freeway at the place of the accident.

Title 41-6-48, Utah Code Annotated provides as follows:

(e) The state road commission shall have exclusive authority to determine and declare prima facie evidence of a lawful speed on state highways whether such highways be within or without the corporate limits of any city. A state highway, to be appropriately posted, must be posted with reflector type signs whereon the prima facie lawful speed limit shall be designated. Wherever there is a drop of 10 MPH or more in the posted speed limit, it must be preceded by a sign giving advance notice of such a reduction. Signs shall be as specified in the current approved "Utah Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices."

There was a reduction of speed of 35 mph where the accident occurred. As has been said, the speed limit was reduced from 70 mph on three lanes of traffic to 25 mph for a sharply curving narrow one-lane exit road which described a 270° arc. The State, therefore, failed to erect reduction in speed signs as required by the Statutes of the State. The signs which the State of Utah erected certainly gave notice but not of the dangerous condition that existed. An interesting analogy to the condition that existed where the accident occurred is the temporary end of the freeway at Page's Lane at or near Centerville, Davis County. There the freeway comes to

an end and the road signs so indicate. However, the road into which the freeway leads continues on in a northerly direction, and the traffic on the freeway is channelled from 3 northbound lanes on the freeway to 2 northbound lanes on the old road. At that point there is at most a 10 mph reduction in speed. A motorist who has recently traversed the freeway near Centerville as Mr. Brooks had would reasonably believe that the same condition existed at Ogden unless he was specifically warned. Of course, he was given no such notice or warning.

There are many cases dealing with the liability of a State for the failure of its Highway Commission or Department to erect or maintain proper traffic control signs or for the improper placing or maintenance of such. No case covers the precise question presented on appeal herein.

Brown, et al. vs. Highway Commission of Kansas, 444 P. 2d 887 (Kan. 1968) was a case that involved an automobile accident which resulted in the death of a mother and her six year old son and brain damage to her eight year old daughter who were passengers in a vehicle traveling on a state highway at an intersection with a country road. Plaintiff's vehicle was struck by tortfeasor motorist who failed to observe and stop at a stop sign on the subservient road which stop sign was obscured from sight by bushes and trees. Plaintiffs claimed that the fact that the stop sign was obscured was a defect in the highway and the Highway Commission denied on the ground that since the stop sign was not on the travelled portion of the roadway it was not such a

defect. The court stated that even though the stop sign was not on the travelled portion of the roadway that fact did not preclude it from being a defect in the highway. The court further went on to say that the adoption of a Uniform Traffic Control Manual by the State Highway Commission imposes an absolute duty on the Highway Commission to conform to the rules set out in the Manual, and hence an absolute duty to maintain traffic control devices at the intersection with a through highway. It is sufficient merely that the defective condition affect the safety of the highway. Although the State Highway Commission has discretion to designate a road as a State Highway, once it does so it has an absolute duty to comply with the requirements of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices and to install and maintain traffic control devices sufficient and efficient to control traffic entering thereon.

In that case the Kansas Supreme Court affirmed a judgment of \$102,029 for plaintiffs stating that a five foot high stop sign which was obstructed by bushes and shrubs was not effectively warning motorists, that the sign should have been at least seven feet high and hence it was a defect in the highway.

Other cases taking substantially this same view are *Fanning vs. City of Laramie*, 402 P. 2d 460 (Wyo. 1965), improperly maintained stop sign; *Luddy vs. State*, N.Y.S. 2d.... (N.Y. Ct. Claims, No. 42938, 1968), failure to warn motorist of a deceptively re-routed highway; *Weber vs. State*, (Cal. Trial Ct., Feb, 1968) 11 ATL New L. 156-157, failure to post sign warning of a treacherous

curve on a 65 mph road; *State vs. Watson*, 436 P. 2d 175 (Ariz. 1967); State's liability for failure to warn motorist of a narrow bridge; *Van Airsdale vs. Hollinger*, 66 Cal. Rptr. 20, 437 P. 2d 508 (Cal, 1968) City's liability for negligence of independent contractor, under non-delegable duty exception, for contractor's negligence in handling job of eradicating white line markings on a busy street while keeping one of three lanes of traffic open to traffic; *Pfeifer vs. City of San Joaquin*, 55 Cal. Rptr. 103 (Cal. App. 1966) County eliminated pedestrian crosswalk but failed to obliterate "Ped Xing" warning on highway. See also *Stone vs. Arizona Highway Commission*, 381 P. 2d 107 (Ariz. 1963), *Javita Rice, Spec. Admx. vs. Clark County et al.*, 328 P. 2d 605 (Nev. 1963).

It seems abundantly clear from the facts of the instant case that the State of Utah failed to give reasonable and adequate notice or warning to motorists of the dangerous condition of the highway at the temporary end of the freeway. Not all of the necessary signs were installed and the signs that were in place were not correlated as to the warning or notice that should have been given. In fact, the signs that were installed not only failed to give adequate warning of the dangerous conditions, they were deceptive in what they stated. After having seen all of the signs, the State had installed or wanted to install, there was still not adequate notice, or any notice at all for that matter, of a greatly reduced speed limit, an extreme narrowing of the roadway, a narrow, sharp, hazardous, curving exit road, and a sudden change of direction on the narrow, sharp, dangerous and hazardous exit road of 270°.

Respondent contends that on the basis of the facts of this case and the law as set forth that the lower court's finding in this regard was reasonable and accurate.

POINT IV

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DRIVER, BROOKS, OPERATED THE UNIT IN A REASONABLE AND PRUDENT MANNER.

Respondent incorporates into Point IV of this brief the facts, law and argument set forth under Point III.

The lower court found "that Brooks was driving the said unit in a reasonable and prudent manner, was unable to negotiate the exit from the freeway as a result of which the unit left the roadway and overturned" (R32, 33).

In this regard it should be born in mind that it was dark, the roadway was wet or moist, it was foggy in places along the roadway, the State of Utah had not erected all of the necessary signs under its own construction signing plan, and the signs that were installed did not give warning of the dangerous condition that existed at the temporary end of the freeway. Couple this with the fact that Mr. Brooks has been an interstate trucker for about 25 years, drives approximately 50,000 miles per year and has never before had an accident, he was not tired having had a rest stop in Price, Utah, and the fact that he was driving a large rig with a load of about 40,000 pounds at a speed of approximately 30 to

35 mph. It is obvious why the trial court found Mr. Brooks free from negligence.

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